S226652

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED 8.25(b) OCT-2 9 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### DISPUTESUITE.COM, LLC

Plaintiff & Respondent,

VS.

#### SCOREINC.COM, et al.

Defendants & Appellants.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, NO. B248694 ON APPEAL FROM ORDER OF LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. BC489083

HONORABLE JAMES C. CHALFANT, TRIAL JUDGE

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Marvin Gelfand (SBN 53586) Brendan J. Begley (SBN 202563)

# WEINTRAUB TOBIN CHEDIAK COLEMAN GRODIN

Law Corporation
9665 Wilshire Blvd, Ninth Floor
Beverly Hills, CA 90212

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether contractual attorneys' fees may be denied to a successful party who defeats a California lawsuit based on the mere fact that litigation may proceed in a different jurisdiction.

#### INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff and Respondent DisputeSuite.com, LLC ("DisputeSuite"), a Florida company, sued Scoreinc.com and its principals ("Score") in Los Angeles for breach of contract and other claims. Score ultimately obtained a dismissal of the lawsuit based on a contractual forum-selection clause, resulting in a true victory given the trial court's finding that DisputeSuite's lawsuit was frivolous. (RT E-1212:22-1213-8.) Nonetheless, the trial court denied Score's motion for contractual attorneys' fees, citing the fact that the substantive issues raised in this litigation had not been adjudicated to a final determination. This holding was based on the fact that DisputeSuite filed another lawsuit in Florida after the California action was dismissed.

The Court of Appeal upheld the denial of attorneys' fees under Civil Code section 1717, affirming the trial court's rationale. The Court of Appeal's decision essentially means that a plaintiff such as DisputeSuite can congest California courts by bringing a totally unsuccessful lawsuit for breach of contract in the wrong forum, without any exposure to contractual attorneys' fees. Such a result defeats the whole purpose of section 1717 – reciprocity – by opening a hole in section 1717 that can be exploited by any plaintiff seeking to force the other side to litigate in the wrong forum. Because contract claims typically do not trigger anti-SLAPP protection, a wealthy litigant can use litigation as a means to bury its not-so-wealthy opponent by forcing the defendant to incur a ton of attorneys' fees in a

distant jurisdiction. By merely filing the action in the wrong forum and exploiting its immunity to any contractual fee recovery, the plaintiff has achieved its improper objective.

Likewise, where the defendant has had California operations but the transactional nexus is missing (due to the location of the witnesses, etc.), the plaintiff would be encouraged to file the action in the wrong forum based on its lack of contractual fee exposure, knowing that a dismissal on procedural grounds would never trigger fee shifting. Because contract claims are often uninsured (unlike garden variety tort claims that typically trigger a duty to defend by an insurer with vast resources), the defendant would be forced to litigate without any possibility of fee recovery in California. While clogging the court system, the prosecution of the lawsuit in California wastes limited judicial resources, notwithstanding the current budget crisis. Therefore, the denial of Score's fee motion should be reversed.

Finally, rather than adopting amorphous tests for fee recovery, this Court should impose a bright line test, using one of the two tests proposed here. Under the first proposed alternative, fee shifting should be allowed after an involuntary or procedural dismissal as long as the trial court has entered an appealable judgment or an appealable order in terms of its disposition of the case. Under the second proposed alternative, fee shifting should be allowed after a procedural dismissal as long as the subsequent litigation on the merits takes place in an independent action or in a discrete proceeding. Under either test, fee recovery should be allowed here.

Based on these reasons, as analyzed below, this Court should reverse the denial of the fee motion in this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Parties and the Claims

In July 2012, DisputeSuite filed a civil action in the Los Angeles County Superior Court against Defendants and Appellants Scoreinc.com, Joel S. Pate, and Joshua Carmona (collectively "Score"). (1 Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 77-121 [complaint]; 6 AA 1370.) Claiming to be a leading provider of credit repair software/services to credit repair organizations, DisputeSuite alleged that it presented its "confidential proprietary trade secret method of doing business" to Score while providing Score with a license to use the "proprietary copyrighted software at a severely discounted price." (1 AA 84, ¶¶ 20-21.)

DisputeSuite claimed that four contracts governed its business relationship with Score. (1 AA 84, ¶22; 87, ¶25; 90, ¶34.) The complaint alleged breach of contract, bad faith, fraud, conspiracy and misappropriation of trade secrets (among others). (1 AA 77-78.) In addition to seeking damages and injunctive relief, DisputeSuite, a Florida company, sought attorneys' fees. (1 AA 121; 1 AA 79, ¶1.)

## B. Score Obtains Dismissal of the California Action.

After opposing DisputeSuite's request for injunctive relief (2 AA 435; 1 AA 154 – 2 AA 433), Score filed its motion to quash service of summons. (2 AA 443-523.) Based on its declarations and supporting evidence, Score argued that "the only connection this case has with California is that Plaintiff's counsel practices here." (2 AA 444:10-11.) Invoking the forum selection clauses found in the parties' Master Re-Seller Agreement and Cross-Marketing Agreement (2 AA 449-450, 452-453),

Score argued that those clauses require the parties to litigate their disputes in Florida. (2 AA 453-457.)

DisputeSuite opposed the motion. (3 AA 597-607; 3 AA 608-650 & 5 AA 1150-1176 [declarations]; 3 AA 651 – 5 AA 1149 [exhibits].) After receiving the opposition and reply papers (5 AA 1178-1188), the court held a hearing. While the existence/enforceability of the four contracts alleged in the complaint was disputed, the trial court found that those four contracts, at best, present a "battle of forum selection clauses." (5 AA 1194.) Rejecting DisputeSuite's arguments, the trial court held that the issues presented in this lawsuit "are governed by contracts that select Florida as the proper forum." (5 AA 1195.) <sup>1</sup>

Having granted Score's motion, the trial court stayed the case for 60 days pending the filing of a new lawsuit in Florida. (5 AA 1189-1195.) Based on Score's stipulation, the court also extended by seven days the preliminary injunction that was granted earlier. (5 AA 1280; 3 AA 595.) <sup>2</sup>

A subsequent hearing was held on an order to show cause as to the dismissal of the case, followed by a written order dismissing the case as of December 18, 2012. (5 AA 1279-1280.) The order of dismissal, signed and

The clause in the Master Re-Seller Agreement provides as follows: "any disputes, actions, claims or causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement ... shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Hillsb[o]rough, Florida." (1 AA 135, ¶23.) Similarly, the Cross-Marketing Agreement provides that "the sole jurisdiction and venue for actions related to the subject matter of the agreement shall be Pinellas County, Florida." (1 AA 150, ¶10 [capitalization omitted].) DisputeSuite, however, relied on an alleged verbal agreement to a California forum selection clause in the End User Agreement, a hotly contested point/document. (5 AA 1180-83; 1187, ¶2; APFR 2; 3 AA 609-610.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The injunction precluded the sale/use of DisputeSuite's software as to third parties that were not joint customers. (3 AA 595,  $\P$ 2.) It also precluded the transfer of any joint customers to anyone that does not use DisputeSuite's software. (*Id.*,  $\P$ 1.)

filed on January 3, 2013, also vacated the preliminary injunction as of December 18, 2012. (5 AA 1280.)

DisputeSuite did not appeal the dismissal of its case or any other rulings. (Code Civ. Proc., § 904.1, subd. (a)(3) [forum-non-conveniens dismissal appealable]; subd. (a)(6) [injunctive rulings appealable].) Instead, DisputeSuite filed a new action in Florida. (APFR 9.)

# C. After Obtaining Full Dismissal of the California Action, Score Files Its Motion for Attorneys' Fees.

The Cross-Marketing Agreement includes a reciprocal attorneys' fee provision as follows: "The prevailing party in any legal action brought by one party against the other and arising out of this Agreement shall be entitled ... to reimbursement of legal expenses incurred in such action, including ... reasonable attorney's fees." (1 AA 150-151, ¶11.)

Based on this fee provision, Score filed a fee motion after the hearing on the order to show cause. (5 AA 1197-1206 [fee motion]; 1207-1275 [declaration and exhibits].) Having received opposition (6 AA 1283-1328) and reply papers (6 AA 1329-1365), the trial court held a hearing. (RT E-1201-1220.)

Denying Score's motion for attorneys' fees (6 AA 1369-1377), the trial court held that there was no final determination of the substantive merits of the case in the California action. (6 AA 1376.) Despite its finding that filing the action in California was frivolous (RT E-1212:22-1213:8), the court refused to award any attorneys' fees.

#### D. The Court of Appeal Upholds the Denial of Score's Fee Motion.

Score appealed the trial court's ruling on the fee motion. (6 AA 1378.) The Second Appellate District, Division Two, affirmed the trial court's decision. (*DisputeSuite.com*, *LLC v. Scoreinc.com* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1261.)

The Court of Appeal reasoned that Score "obtained merely an interim victory by succeeding in getting the case moved from one forum to another, thereby delaying final resolution of the contract claims." (*Id.* at p. 1268.) The Court of Appeal rationalized that "[w]hile one could argue that the Florida case is a separate lawsuit from the California case, the fact remains that the contract claims against defendants are still the same and still viable." (*Id.*) While practically acknowledging that Score successfully enforced the contractual forum selection clause, the Court of Appeal speculated about the possibility that Score may lose the Florida lawsuit in the future. (*Id.*) The court concluded that there was "no final resolution of the contract claims and therefore it would be premature to make a prevailing party determination at such juncture." (*Id.*)

## E. The Court of Appeal Denies Rehearing.

Score sought rehearing, pointing out a factual error in the opinion regarding which side had insisted on the Florida forum selection clause. The Court of Appeal modified its opinion by deleting the language indicating that Score had insisted on using that clause. (*DisputeSuite.com*, *LLC v. Scoreinc.com* (May 14, 2015, B248694) 2015 Cal.App.LEXIS 414 at \*1 [indicating that Score had agreed to a Florida forum rather than insisting on the Florida forum].) The Court of Appeal did not address the

other points raised in the rehearing petition regarding the standard of review or other statutory grounds for awarding attorneys' fees.

This Court subsequently granted Score's petition for review without modifying the specification of the issues presented in the petition.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because "the issue here involves the interpretation of a statute" in terms of fee recovery, the standard of review is de novo. (*Goodman v. Lozano* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327, 1332 [applying de novo review to evaluate cost shifting issues in terms of prevailing party determination].)

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. When a Lawsuit Is Dismissed on the Basis of a Forum-Selection Clause, the Defendant Is Entitled to Recover Attorneys' Fees Under Civil Code Section 1717, Even If Other Substantive Merits of the Case Are Not Adjudicated to a Final Determination.
  - A. Denial of Fee Recovery Is Inconsistent with the Language of the Fee Shifting Statute. To Do So Would Require Revision of Civil Code Section 1717.

DisputeSuite's position – that a final determination on the merits of the entire case is required to trigger fee shifting – ignores the language of section 1717. Under subdivision (b)(1), the prevailing party is defined as "the party who *recovered* a greater relief in the action on the contract." As this Court has explained in the context of cost-shifting, "[t]he word

'recover' means 'to gain by legal process' or 'to obtain a final legal judgment in one's favor.'" (*Goodman, supra,* 47 Cal.4th at p. 1334 [citing dictionary; emphasis added].) Under this definition, satisfying the first prong by obtaining a dismissal – be it on the basis of a forum-selection clause or on procedural grounds – triggers fee shifting, even if the litigation continues in a separate forum. As a result, the lower courts erred in denying Score's fee motion based on DisputeSuite's arguments.

In this regard, *Wong v. Thrifty Corp.* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 261 is instructive. In that case, the appellate court rejected the argument that a contractual fee shifting provision can require the prevailing party to obtain a determination on the merits of the case as a condition precedent for fee shifting under section 1717. Refusing to enforce such a contractual provision in a case that was settled pursuant to a statutory offer to compromise, the court reasoned as follows: "By confining entitlement to attorney fees to those who prevail upon a 'determination' of liability, the attorney fee clause conflicts with the section 1717 definition of 'prevailing party.' To give it effect would thwart the statutory purpose." (*Id.* at p. 265.)

Applying *Wong* here, even if it could be said that the trial court's dismissal of the lawsuit was on purely procedural grounds, Score is entitled to recover its fees because the language of section 1717 does not require a determination on the merits as a condition precedent for fee recovery. To the extent that DisputeSuite seeks to impose such a requirement, its fight is with the legislature.

There is another interpretive flaw in DisputeSuite's position. While lawsuits can be terminated in numerous ways, section 1717 merely excludes two categories of dismissals from its scope: "Where an action has been voluntarily dismissed or dismissed pursuant to a settlement of the case, there shall be no prevailing party for purposes of this section." (Civ. Code § 1717, subd. (b)(2).) By asking this Court to add *in*voluntary

dismissals on procedural grounds to this exemption, and by asking this Court to impose a requirement that the merits of the entire case be determined under this statute, DisputeSuite is seeking judicial legislation. Therefore, its view should be rejected based on the statutory language. <sup>3</sup>

Other courts have adopted Score's view that section 1717 does not impose a merits determination as a precondition for fee recovery. In *Profit Concepts Management, Inc. v. Griffith* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 950, for example, a California company filed a lawsuit against its former employee, an Oklahoma resident. (*Id.* at p. 952.) After the former employee filed a successful motion to quash service based on lack of personal jurisdiction, the trial court awarded contractual attorneys' fees. (*Id.*)

Affirming the fee award, Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District explained that "the current version of section 1717 does not contain the requirement of a final judgment" (*id.* at p. 954), thereby dismissing the plaintiff's reliance on obsolete case law. Rejecting the plaintiff's argument "that a determination on the 'merits' of the contract claim is necessary," the appellate court reasoned that the "case in California has been finally resolved" while plaintiff obtained nothing on its entire complaint. (*Id.* at p. 956.)

To further support its decision, *Profit Concepts* also examined this Court's decision in *Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863. In that case, this Court held that, "in deciding whether there is a 'party prevailing on the contract,' the trial court is to compare the relief awarded on the contract claim or claims with the parties' demands on those same claims and their litigation objectives as disclosed by the pleadings, trial briefs, opening statements, and similar sources. The prevailing party determination is to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While inapplicable here, one wrinkle on subdivision (b)(2) is that, as illustrated in *Wong*, "a party who accepts a section 998 offer may recover attorney fees under section 1717 ... where the compromise agreement is silent on costs and fees." (*Wong, supra*, 97 Cal.App.4th at pp. 263-264.)

made only upon final resolution of the contract claims and only by 'a comparison of the extent to which each party ha[s] succeeded and failed to succeed in its contentions." (*Profit Concepts, supra,* 162 Cal.App.4th at p. 956 [quoting *Hsu*].) Noting that *Hsu* "does not use the term 'merits'", *Profit Concepts* held that "the contract claim was finally resolved within the meaning of *Hsu*", thus triggering fee shifting. (*Id.*) Accordingly, the court upheld the fee award under section 1717.

Applying *Profit Concepts*, another panel of the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three upheld a contractual fee award in *PNEC Corp. v. Meyer* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 66 (*PNEC*). In that case, after the trial court dismissed a contract action based on forum non conveniens grounds, the court entered a judgment of dismissal without prejudice. (*Id.* at p. 68.) The court then awarded attorney' fees to the defendant under section 1717. (*Id.* at p. 69.)

Affirming the fee award, the appellate court rejected the argument that a dismissal on forum non conveniens ground "does not provide an adequate basis for deeming a defendant to be a 'party prevailing on the contract'" under section 1717. (*Id.*) The court found "the cogent statutory analysis set forth in *Profit Concepts* to apply equally to this case." (*Id.* at p. 71.) The court further reasoned that its view "was consistent with other cases awarding attorney fees even though the [lower] court did not reach a final, on-the-merits ruling on the contract claim." (*Id.* at p. 72 [citations omitted; brackets added].) As a result, the court upheld the fee award, even though there was no decision on the merits of the claim presented in the California lawsuit.

To summarize, section 1717 does not impose a merits determination as a condition precedent for fee shifting. Therefore, DisputeSuite's attempt to have this Court add such a requirement to this statute should be summarily rejected.

B. Fee Recovery Is Particularly Important in Cases
Dismissed on Procedural Grounds in Order to Ensure
Reciprocity and Fairness to the Prevailing Defendant
That Was Involuntarily Hauled into Court.

It bears repeating that Score did not obtain a dismissal on mere procedural or technical grounds; e.g., lack of standing, mootness, etc. On the contrary, Score obtained the dismissal by convincing the trial court to enforce the only non-fee provision in the contract that could be enforced in California; i.e., the forum-selection clause.

Even if it could be said that Score's victory was purely procedural, the fact that there was no merits determination justifies awarding fees—not denying fees—because Score and similarly situated defendants would be precluded from recovering fees in a subsequent malicious prosecution case. (See, e.g., Hudis v. Crawford (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 1586, 1592 [dismissal for lack of standing does not involve the merits of the action and cannot constitute a favorable termination to allow malicious prosecution claim]; Robbins v. Blecher (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 886, 894 [same as to mootness dismissal].) To ensure that the defendant does not end up saddled with fees caused by an improper lawsuit, it is particularly important to allow contractual fee shifting in such situations as the sole remaining ground for fee recovery. The importance of the availability of such a safety valve has been recognized in other contexts. (See, e.g., Code Civ. Proc. § 1038, subd. (c) [authorizing statutory fee shifting as an alternative to pursuing a subsequent malicious prosecution claim when meritless lawsuits for indemnity or actions against government agencies are filed].)

Otherwise, the denial of fee recovery for certain procedural dismissals would punish the defendant for plaintiffs' failure to follow the law when the case is dismissed on such grounds. (See Code Civ. Proc. §

389, subd. (b) [dismissal for nonjoinder of necessary parties]; § 583.250 [dismissal for delay in serving summons]; § 583.110 et seq. [dismissal for delay in prosecution].)

Refusing to acknowledge the importance of imposing a reciprocal and fair standard for fee shifting, DisputeSuite claims that an "interim procedural victory" should not trigger fee shifting. (APFR 3.) That argument should be rejected for two reasons. First, Score's victory was not a procedural one but a merits-based determination regarding what the contract expressly required. The enforcement of this key contractual term cannot be dismissed by merely labeling it as a procedural victory. (See *Righthaven LLC v. Hoehn* (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2013) 716 F.3d 1166, 1167 [discussing Abraham Lincoln's "story about a lawyer who tried to establish that a calf had five legs by calling its tail a leg"].)

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