## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Were defendants entitled to an award of attorney fees under Civil Code section 1717 as the prevailing parties in an action on a contract when they obtained the dismissal of the action on procedural grounds pursuant to a Florida forum selection clause?

## INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff and Respondent DisputeSuite.com, LLC ("DisputeSuite") brought this litigation in Los Angeles Superior Court seeking temporary and permanent injunctive relief barring its business partner, Defendant and Appellant Scoreinc.com, and Scoreinc.com's principals, Defendants and Appellants Joel S. Pate, and Joshua Carmona's (collectively "Score"), from misappropriating and disseminating DisputeSuite's confidential customer lists and proprietary software. Finding that DisputeSuite was likely to succeed on the merits, the trial court granted DisputeSuite preliminary injunctive relief and then, after concluding that Florida was the more appropriate forum for this litigation, extended that injunctive protection to allow DisputeSuite time to transition the litigation to Florida.

Despite the fact that litigation over the contract claims is ongoing in Florida—such that we do not know who will ultimately on this contract dispute—Score nonetheless immediately sought \$84,640 in attorney's fees pursuant to Civil Code section 1717, claiming to be the "party who prevail[ed]" on the contract.

Score's position—that its interim success in litigating the venue of the contract action entitles it recover attorney's fees as the prevailing party—runs contrary to this Court's plain decisional law that "[t]he prevailing party determination under [section 1717] is to be made *only upon final resolution of the contract claims*...." (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 876 [emphasis added].) Score relies on outlier cases that have

been repeatedly rejected by various courts. Consistent with *Hsu*, both the trial court and the Court of Appeal rejected Score's effort, ruling that "an interim procedural victory that results only in a relocation of an active contract dispute from one forum to another" does not constitute a "final resolution of the contract claims . . . ." (*DisputeSuite.com*, *LLC v. Scoreinc.com* (July 29, 2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1261, 1268.)

Score complains that this result defeats the "reciprocity" principal of section 1717 because, according to Score, a plaintiff such as DisputeSuite is "without any exposure to contractual attorney's fees." (OBM 1.) Not so. Score may eventually be entitled to recover its attorney's fees if it ultimately prevails on the contract claims in Florida, just as section 1717 contemplates—but not before. Moreover, the trial court could have imposed sanctions if it believed DisputeSuite's decision to file this action in California was frivolous.

Score attempts to convince this Court that a deluge of plaintiff's attorneys will flood California's courts with lawsuits which belong elsewhere if the Court does not loosen the "final resolution" requirement for prevailing party determination in contractual attorney's fees requests. Such a concern does not withstand scrutiny. Contract disputes with an applicable attorney's fees provision are but a fraction of contract litigation (and likely a small fraction), and contract litigation itself is but one subset of civil litigation. Accordingly, the majority of litigation in this state proceeds pursuant to the American Rule that each party bears its own attorney's fees. If Score's prediction had any merit, then (1) we would see the problem manifest itself already in cases where no attorney's fee contractual provision is at issue; and (2) the issue would be better addressed through the creation of (or use of existing) procedural tools available in all cases, rather than revising the final resolution principles of section 1717.

The real harm would derive from following Score's lead. The reality is that both contractual attorney's fees provisions and forum selection clauses are tools which tend to benefit the parties with the greater bargaining power. One need look no further than the size of Score's fee request to sense the danger that interim fee awards would pose. Armed with an \$84,640 reward for pushing the litigation from California to Florida, there can be no doubt that Score's next step would have been to use that \$84,640 judgment as leverage to force DisputeSuite to settle its still-pending contractual claims—claims which the trial court determined that DisputeSuite was likely to prevail on—out of economic duress rather than substantive merit. Such potential and disproportionate consequences would chill plaintiffs, especially California consumers, from availing themselves of the right to seek redress with the California courts whenever there is even a chance of a jurisdictional or venue dispute.

For these reasons, the denial of Score's fee request should be affirmed.

## FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

DisputeSuite is the leading provider of technology training resources, marketing, and business solutions to companies in the credit repair industry. (6 AA 1370.) As a result of its investment of more than one million dollars and five thousand employee hours, DisputeSuite has created and copyrighted computer software, which it markets to credit repair organizations ("CROs") to assist them in better serving their credit repair customers. (*Id.*) This technology is the best available in the credit repair industry. (*Id.*) Score provides outsourcing services to CROs; Score employed DisputeSuite's software product as a platform for its own outsourcing business. (1 AA 23-24.)

DisputeSuite and Score entered into a series of contracts. In May or June of 2010, the parties entered into a Profit Sharing Agreement. (*Id.*)

Pursuant to the agreement, DisputeSuite agreed to refer clients to Score for outsourcing services and to teach to Score DisputeSuite's confidential method for selling its software and other products, in exchange for a share of Score's profits. (*Id.*)

In September 2010, the parties entered into second contract, a Master Re-Seller Agreement. (5 AA 1192.) Pursuant to that agreement, DisputeSuite agreed that Score could re-sell or re-license DisputeSuite's software to certain end-users. (*Id.*) DisputeSuite further provided Score with a license to use its copyrighted software at a discounted price. (6 AA 1371.) As a licensed end-user of DisputeSuite's software and other confidential information, Score agreed to DisputeSuite's "Terms of Use End-User Agreement" ("EUA"). (*Id.*)

Finally, in 2012, the parties entered into a Cross-Marketing Agreement whereby Score agreed to provide outsourcing services only to CROs that utilized DisputeSuite's software, to market DisputeSuite's software exclusively, and to maintain all information, services, software, etc. provided to it by DisputeSuite as "proprietary and confidential information." (*Id.*) Under the Cross-Marketing Agreement, Score further agreed to pay DisputeSuite a commission on a weekly basis. (*Id.*) The EUA contained a California forum selection clause, while the Master Re-Seller and Cross Marketing Agreements contained Florida forum selection clauses. (5 AA 1192-93; 6 AA 1371.)

DisputeSuite met its commitments under these contracts by referring CROs that used its software to Score for outsourcing services. (6 AA 1371.) Score, on the other hand, failed to make the payments it promised. (*Id.*) Frustrated by Score's nonperformance, DisputeSuite notified Score that it was considering development of its own CRO outsourcing business.

In response, Score announced its intention to transfer the 130 CROs referred to it by DisputeSuite to a competing software provider. (6 AA

1372.) DisputeSuite reminded Score that it was contractually prohibited from making such a transfer, and asked Score to reaffirm its contractual obligations. (*Id.*) Score refused, stating that it was no longer bound by any contractual obligations and could do what it wanted with the CRO customers. (*Id.*) Score expressly threatened to transfer Score's services and operations—including the proprietary and confidential information received from DisputeSuite—to one of DisputeSuite's competitors. (*Id.*)

DisputeSuite commenced the underlying action in Los Angeles Superior Court on July 26, 2012, alleging causes of action for, breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and misappropriation of trade secrets. (6 AA 1370, 1372.) DisputeSuite's complaint alleged it would suffer "irreparable harm by reason of Score's making good on its threats to transfer DisputeSuite's customers and proprietary confidential information to another software provider" and sought "a prohibitive injunction by which Score is enjoined from making any such transfers." (1 AA 97).

Concurrent with its complaint, DisputeSuite applied *ex parte* for a temporary restraining order ("TRO") and order to show cause ("OSC") re: preliminary injunction, which was denied. (6 AA 1370, 1372.) On August 10, 2012, however, DisputeSuite renewed its *ex parte* application and the trial court issued a TRO restraining Score from (1) transferring CRO clients shared by both businesses to an entity not using DisputeSuite's software; and (2) licensing DisputeSuite's software to any party other than the joint CROs. (*Id.*) The court set an OSC hearing for September 6, 2012. (*Id.*)

On August 28, 2012, Score filed a motion to dismiss DisputeSuite's complaint (styled as a motion to quash service of the summons and complaint) based on the Florida forum selection clause. (2 AA 443.)

On September 21, 2012, the court granted preliminary injunctive relief restraining Score from "[m]aking any effort, directly or indirectly, to

transfer any of the customers that were referred to them by Disputesuite" or selling or "making available to any person" the DisputeSuite software, and further ordered DisputeSuite to post a cash or corporate surety bond in the amount of \$10,000.00. (3 AA 595-96.)

At the request of counsel for DisputeSuite, the trial court continued the hearing on the motion to dismiss to October 11, 2012. (*Id.*) On that date, the court granted Score's motion to dismiss pursuant to a forum selection clause, finding that the Florida forum selection clause in the Master Re-Seller and Cross Marketing Agreements controlled over the California forum selection clause in DisputeSuite's EUA. (5 AA 1194.) The court chose, however, to stay the case for 60 days before dismissing, and extended the effective date of its preliminary during that stay, in order to ensure DisputeSuite had adequate time to file in Florida and seek injunctive relief in a Florida court. (6 AA 1372; 5 AA 1195.) On December 11, 2012, the trial court again extended the preliminary injunction to December 18, 2012. (5 AA 1196.) After DisputeSuite refiled the case in Florida, the California case was dismissed and the preliminary injunction dissolved. (*Id.*)

On December 26, 2012, Score filed a motion to recover attorneys' fees, which DisputeSuite opposed. (5 AA 1197, 6 AA 1283.) The matter was called for hearing on March 14, 2013, wherein the trial court adopted its tentative decision. (6 AA 1369-76.) On April 14, 2015, the Second District affirmed the denial of attorney's fees.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's determination of the prevailing party for the purpose of attorneys' fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. The statutory language of Civil Code section<sup>1</sup> 1717 "state[s] that the trial court 'may'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, all statutory references are to the Civil Code.

determine that there is no party prevailing on the contract for purposes of an award of attorney fees [and] vests the trial court with discretion in making the prevailing party determination." (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 871.) Accordingly, "the trial court is given wide discretion in determining which party has prevailed on its cause(s) of action. Such a determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion." (*Nasser v. Superior Court* (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 52, 59 [internal quotations omitted]; *Zintel Holdings, LLC v. McLean* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 431, 439 [trial court has "broad discretion" in determining who is the prevailing party under section 1717]; *McLarand, Vasquez & Partners, Inc. v. Downey Savings & Loan Assn.* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1450, 1456 ["The trial court's determination that there was no prevailing party on the contract is an exercise of discretion. We will disturb it only if there has been a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion."].)

The party complaining of the trial court's order carries the burden to establish an abuse of discretion. (*Blank v. Kirwan* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 331.) "[U]nless a clear case of abuse is shown and unless there has been a miscarriage of justice a reviewing court will not substitute its opinion and thereby divest the trial court of its discretionary power." (*Id.* [internal quotations and citations omitted].) As the court in *Corbett v. Hayward Dodge, Inc.* (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 915, explained, "The showing necessary to reverse the trial court is insufficient if it presents facts which merely afford an opportunity for a different opinion." (*Id.* at 927 [internal citations and quotations omitted].) Rather, "it must clearly appear that the injury resulting from such a wrong is sufficiently grave to amount to a manifest miscarriage of justice." (*Id.*)

## **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

I. Where a Party Obtains a Mere Interim, Procedural Dismissal of an Action, But Litigation of the Substantive Contract Claims

Continues in a Different Forum, an Award of Contractual

Attorney's Fees Pursuant to Civil Code Section 1717 is

Premature

# A. Score Is Not A Prevailing Party Because There Has Been No Final Resolution of DisputeSuite's Contract Claims

Section 1717 directs that "[t]he court, upon notice and motion by a party, shall determine who is the party prevailing on the contract." (Civ. Code § 1717(b)(1).) "The prevailing party determination is to be made only upon final resolution of the contract claims . . . ." (*Hsu, supra, 9* Cal.4th, at 876 [emphasis added].)

Because Score's interim procedural victory resulted only in relocation of this active dispute from California to Florida, there has been no final resolution of DisputeSuite's contract claims such that it is premature to identify either party as "prevailing." In *Hsu*, the trial court reached a final resolution of the contract claims before it: the Hsus sued the Abbaras for specific performance of a contract, and the trial court found that no contract had been formed, thus giving the Abbaras a "simple, unqualified win" in the action. (*Id.*) Because of this final resolution of the contract claims in their favor, the Abbaras were the prevailing party for the purpose of awarding attorneys' fees, and it was error for the trial court to conclude that there was no prevailing party. (*Id.* at 877.)

Estate of Drummond (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 46, presented a situation where attorney's fees were sought before a final resolution of the contract claims. In Drummond, an attorney filed a petition in probate court against his former clients seeking to recover fees. (*Id.* at 49.) The clients,

however, had already filed a suit against the attorney in civil court. (*Id.*) The probate court concluded that the attorney should have brought his claim against the clients as a compulsory cross-claim in the clients' civil case, and dismissed the probate case. (*Id.*) Although the attorney re-filed his claim as a cross-complaint in the civil court action, the clients moved to collect attorneys' fees in the probate case on the grounds that they were the prevailing parties pursuant to section 1717. (*Id.*) The court denied the motion for fees, and the clients appealed. (*Id.* at 50.)

The appellate court held that the court had not abused its discretion in denying fees. (*Id.* at 54.) Relying on *Hsu*, the court stated that because "the prevailing party determination must await the 'final resolution of the contract claims,' [i]t necessarily follows that no fee award can be made before such a 'final resolution.'" (*Id.* at 51 [quoting Hsu, supra, 9 Cal.4th, at 876].) The court further explained that "the phrase 'prevailing on the contract,' . . . implies a strategic victory at the end of the day, not a tactical victory in a preliminary engagement." (*Id.* at 51.) A party does not prevail when they "have at no time won a victory 'on the contract'" but instead "only succeeded at moving a determination on the merits from one forum to another." (*Id.* at 52-53.)

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